

Victor Harbor Horse Tram Authority

(Section 42 Subsidiary of the City of Victor Harbor)
25 July 2022

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1	Name of Authority	3
	1.2	Dictionary	3
	1.3	Interpretation	3
	1.4	Establishment	4
	1.5	Local Government Act	4
	1.6	About this Charter	
	1.7	Objects and Purpose	
	1.8	Powers, Functions and Duties	
	1.9	Funding of Authority, Borrowings and Expenditure	
	1.10	Property	
	1.11	Delegation by the Authority	
	1.12	National Competition Policy	
	1.13	Direction and Control	
2.		RD OF MANAGEMENT	
	2.1	Role of Board	
	2.2	Specific Functions of the Board	
	2.3	Strategic Functions of the Board	
	2.4	Proceedings at Board Meetings	
	2.5	Chair and Deputy Chair of the Board	
	2.6	QuorumQuorum	
	2.7	Board Policies	
	2.8	Board Duties to the Authority	
	2.9	Appointment of Board Members	
	2.9	Selection Panel	
	2.10		
	2.11	Vacancy in Office of Board Members	
		Remuneration and Expenses of Board Members	
	2.13	Casual Vacancies	
_	2.14 Register of Interests		
3.		ER OFFICERS	
	3.1	General Manager	
	3.2	Staff	
	3.3	Auditor	
4.		T COMMITTEE	
_	4.1	Audit Committee	
5.		GETS	
6.		RANCE AND SUPERANNUATION REQUIREMENTS	
7.		NCIAL PRACTICES	
	7.1	Accounting Records	
	7.2	Other Financial Practices	
8.		ORTING	
	8.1	Management Reports	
	8.2	Annual Reports	
9.		MITTEES	
10.	OTHER MATTERS		
	10.1		
	10.2	Circumstances Not Provided For	18

1. **INTRODUCTION**

1.1 Name of Authority

The name of the subsidiary is the Victor Harbor Horse Tram Authority.

1.2 **Dictionary**

Act means the Local Government Act 1999.

Authority means the Victor Harbor Horse Tram Authority established as a single council subsidiary pursuant to Section 42 of the Act.

Board means the board of management of the Authority.

Board Member means at any time a member of the Board appointed in accordance with subclause 2.9 of this Charter.

Budget means a budget adopted by the Authority in accordance with the Act and this Charter.

Business Plan means a business plan adopted by the Authority in accordance with the Act and this Charter.

General Manager means the General Manager of the Authority and includes a person acting in that position.

Council means The City of Victor Harbor.

Deliberative Vote means a vote cast by each Board Member (including the Chairperson) for the purpose of deciding a matter under deliberation.

Elected Member means an elected member of the Council.

Remuneration Fees mean fees paid to a Board Member in accordance with this Charter.

Significant Business Activity has its meaning in the Revised Clause 7 Statement on the Application of Competition Principles to Local Government under the Competition Principles Agreement September 2002.

Simple Majority means a majority of those Board Members present and entitled to vote.

Subject to the above, words and expressions in this Charter have the same meaning as in a provision of the Act that deals with the same matter.

1.3 **Interpretation**

In this Charter:

- 1.3.1 the singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- 1.3.2 words importing a gender include other genders.

- 1.3.3 words importing natural persons include corporates.
- 1.3.4 reference to a section is to a section of the Act and includes any section that substantially replaces that section and deals with the same matter.
- 1.3.5 headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect the construction of this Charter.

1.4 Establishment

The Authority is a subsidiary of the Council established under Section 42 of the Act.

1.5 Local Government Act

- 1.5.1 This Charter must be read in conjunction with Parts 1 and 3 of Schedule 2 to the Act.
- 1.5.2 The Authority shall conduct its affairs in accordance with and comply with Schedule 2 to the Act except as modified by this Charter in a manner permitted by Schedule 2.
- 1.5.3 The establishment of the Authority does not derogate from the power of Council to act independently in relation to a matter within the jurisdiction of the Authority.

1.6 About this Charter

- 1.6.1 This Charter is the charter of the Authority.
- 1.6.2 Despite any other provision in this Charter:
 - 1.6.2.1 if the Act prohibits a thing being done, the thing may not be done.
 - 1.6.2.2 if the Act requires or permits a thing to be done by the Authority approval is given for that thing to be done.
 - 1.6.2.3 if a provision of this Charter is, or becomes, inconsistent with the Act, that provision must be read down or, failing that, severed from this Charter to the extent of the inconsistency.
- 1.6.3 This Charter may not be amended except by resolution of the Council.

1.7 **Objects and Purpose**

The Authority has these purposes:

- 1.7.1 to ensure the health and welfare of the Victor Harbor Horse Tram Horses.
- 1.7.2 to promote and market the Victor Harbor Horse Tram.

- 1.7.3 to position the Victor Harbor Horse Tram in a way that sustains retail, business and economic growth and supports economic viability for the region.
- 1.7.4 to enhance and sustain the commercial aspects of the Victor Harbor Horse Tram to ensure ongoing competitiveness.
- 1.7.5 to provide positive and productive engagement and partnership with key stakeholders of the Authority and the Victor Harbor Horse Tram to achieve ongoing sustainability.
- 1.7.6 the development and success for the Authority and the Victor Harbor Horse Tram.
- 1.7.7 to prepare a strategic management plan for the Victor Harbor Horse Tram.
- 1.7.8 to refine and redefine the strategic management framework for the Victor Harbor Horse Tram in response to changing circumstances.
- 1.7.9 to promote the Victor Harbor Horse Tram and to encourage its use by residents, tourists, visitors and the community in general.
- 1.7.10 to make recommendations to the Council in relation to the maintenance and upgrade of the Victor Harbor Horse Tram's existing infrastructure and physical appearance to ensure it is maintained to a high standard.
- 1.7.11 to monitor that aspect of the annual budget approved by the Council relating to the Authority's financial and general performance.
- 1.7.12 to report regularly to the Council on the Authority's financial and general performance; and
- 1.7.13 to promote and co-ordinate strategic management actions in relation to the Victor Harbor Horse Tram in a way that will ensure ongoing participation and commitment from stakeholders and the Council.

1.8 **Powers, Functions and Duties**

- 1.8.1 The powers, functions and duties of the Authority are, in addition to those set out in the Act, to:
 - 1.8.1.1 set, charge and, from time to time adjust the fees for the use of the facilities of the Victor Harbor Horse Tram as considered appropriate by the Authority.
 - 1.8.1.2 receive donations and sponsorship from any person for use or investment in relation to the Victor Harbor Horse Tram.
 - 1.8.1.3 subject to clause 1.9 of this Charter, enter into contracts.
 - 1.8.1.4 subject to clause 1.9 of this Charter, purchase, or otherwise acquire chattel, plant or equipment and sell, lease, hire, rent

- or otherwise dispose of any chattel, plant, equipment or other personal property of the Authority.
- 1.8.1.5 open and operate bank accounts.
- 1.8.1.6 subject to clause 1.9 of this Charter, prosecute, defend, compromise, compound, abandon, refer to mediation or settle a dispute, debt or claim to which the Authority is a party.
- 1.8.1.7 subject to clause 1.9 of this Charter, incur expenditure in the performance of its functions and duties in the furtherance of its objects and purposes.
- 1.8.1.8 plan, cost, endorse and report upon projects to the Council and to stakeholders of the Authority.
- 1.8.1.9 subject to clause 1.9, borrow or apply for funds.
- 1.8.1.10 invest surplus funds in the manner described in Section 139 of the Act as if the Authority were a 'council' and review those investments in the manner described in Section 140 of the Act as if the Authority were a 'council'.
- 1.8.1.11 subject to clause 1.9 of this Charter, and any relevant policy of the Authority, employ, engage, remunerate, suspend or dismiss staff of the Authority.
- 1.8.1.12 to do all things necessary, expedient or incidental to performing its functions and duties.
- 1.8.1.13 to make submissions for and accept grants, sponsorship subsidies and contributions to further its objects and purposes.
- 1.8.1.14 to earn revenue from activities undertaken in the furtherance of its objects and purposes.
- 1.8.1.15 to exercise such other functions, powers and duties as are delegated to the Authority or authorised by the Council from time to time.
- 1.8.1.16 ensure that information provided to the Council is accurate and that the Council is kept informed of the solvency of the Authority as well as any material developments that may affect the operating capacity and financial affairs of the Authority.
- 1.8.1.17 not to act outside the area of the Council.

1.9 Funding of Authority, Borrowings and Expenditure

- 1.9.1 The Authority is intended to be partially self-funded.
- 1.9.2 The Authority has the power to incur expenditure as follows:

- 1.9.2.1 in accordance with a Budget adopted by the Authority and approved by the Council as required by the Act or this Charter; or
- 1.9.2.2 with the prior approval of the Council; or
- 1.9.2.3 in accordance with the Act, in respect of expenditure not contained in a Budget adopted by the Authority, for a purpose of genuine emergency or hardship.
- 1.9.3 Subject to clause 1.9.4 the Authority has the power to borrow money as follows:
 - 1.9.3.1 in accordance with a Budget adopted by the Authority and approved by the Council as required by the Act or this Charter; or
 - 1.9.3.2 with the prior approval of the Council.
- 1.9.4 Unless otherwise approved by the Council any and all borrowings taken out by the Authority:
 - 1.9.4.1 must be from the Local Government Finance Authority; and
 - 1.9.4.2 in the case of fixed loans, must be drawn down within a period of 24 months from the date of approval.
- 1.9.5 The Authority will determine and include in its Budget each year for approval by the Council the funds it requires to enable it to meet its Business Plan objectives.
- 1.9.6 The Authority will if requested by the Council make a payment to the Council from the annual profit of the Authority where there is a surplus after the Authority has funded its operational and capital expenditure as set out in a Budget approved by the Council.

1.10 **Property**

- 1.10.1 All property held by the Authority is held by it on behalf of Council.
- 1.10.2 The Authority must not acquire, dispose, encumber or otherwise deal with any real property without the prior approval of the Council.

1.11 **Delegation by the Authority**

- 1.11.1 Subject to clause 1.11.3 the Authority may by resolution delegate such of its powers, functions and duties under this Charter as it sees fit.
- 1.11.2 The Authority must review at least annually its delegations including any terms and conditions of such delegations and any limits and/or restrictions on the exercise of the relevant powers, functions and duties delegated.
- 1.11.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 1.11.1 the Authority may not delegate:

- 1.11.3.1 the power to impose fees and charges.
- 1.11.3.2 the power to borrow money or to obtain other forms of financial accommodation not set out or included in a Budget adopted by the Authority and where required by this Charter approved by the Council.
- 1.11.3.3 the power to approve expenditure of money on works, services or operations of the Authority not contained in a Budget adopted by the Authority and where required by this Charter approved by the Council.
- 1.11.3.4 the power to approve payment or reimbursement of expenses or payment of allowances to members of the Board.
- 1.11.3.5 the power to adopt a Budget of the Authority.
- 1.11.3.6 the power to adopt or revise a Business Plan, Strategic Plan or Long-Term Financial Plan of the Authority.
- 1.11.3.7 the power to adopt or revise financial estimates and reports.
- 1.11.3.8 the power to make an application or recommendation to the Minister.
- 1.11.4 A delegation is revocable at will and does not prevent the Authority from acting in a matter.

1.12 **National Competition Policy**

If the Authority is at any time involved in a significant business activity as defined in the Clause 7 Statement prepared under the Competition Principles Agreement of the National Competition Policy, it will implement the principles of competitive neutrality by way of annual review of its business operations in the market place and application of the relevant principle(s) where that is appropriate to do so, unless the costs associated with implementation as provided for in Part 4 of the *Government Business Enterprises (Competition) Act 1996* outweigh the benefits to be realised through the application of the principles of competitive neutrality.

1.13 Direction and Control

- 1.13.1 The Authority is subject to the direction and control of the Council.
- 1.13.2 A direction by the Council to the Authority must be evidenced by a resolution of the Council.

2. **BOARD OF MANAGEMENT**

2.1 Role of Board

The Authority is governed by a board of management which has the responsibility to manage the business and other affairs of the Authority in accordance with this Charter.

2.2 Specific Functions of the Board

In administering the affairs of the Authority, the Board must ensure:

- 2.2.1 that the Authority observes all plans, targets, structures, systems and practices required or applied to the Authority by the Council.
- 2.2.2 that all information given to the Council is accurate; and
- 2.2.3 that information is provided to the Council of any material particular affecting the financial or operational ability of the Authority or which gives rise to the expectation that the Authority may not be able to meet its debts as and when they fall due immediately upon the Board becoming aware of any such material particular.

2.3 Strategic Functions of the Board

In overseeing the affairs of the Authority, the Board must:

- 2.3.1 formulate strategic, management and business plans aimed at improving the business of the Authority.
- 2.3.2 provide professional input and policy direction to the Authority.
- 2.3.3 monitor, oversee and measure the performance of the General Manager of the Authority; and
- 2.3.4 exercise the care, diligence and skill that a prudent person of business would exercise in managing the affairs of other persons.

2.4 Proceedings at Board Meetings

- 2.4.1 A meeting of the Board must be held at times and intervals as determined by the Board, provided that the Board meets at least six times in every twelve months.
- 2.4.2 An ordinary meeting of the Board will constitute an ordinary meeting of the Authority. The Board shall administer the business of the ordinary meeting.
- 2.4.3 Chapter 6, Part 3 of the Act extends to the Authority as if:
 - 2.4.3.1 the Authority were a council; and
 - 2.4.3.2 the Board Members of the Authority were members of the council.
- 2.4.4 Each Board Member present at a Board meeting must vote on a matter arising for decision at the meeting unless prohibited from doing so at law, and if the votes are equal, the Board Member presiding at the meeting may exercise a casting vote.
- 2.4.5 Subject to clause 5 of Schedule 2 to the Act, the Board must determine its own procedures to apply at or in relation to its meetings, which must be fair and contribute to free and open decision making

- provided that those procedures are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter or the Act.
- 2.4.6 The General Manager must at the request of the Chairperson or any two Board Members call a special meeting of the Authority.
- 2.4.7 The General Manager will give notice of a meeting to Board Members (by means authorised in writing by the Board Member as being an available means of giving notice) which must:
 - 2.4.7.1 set out the place, date and time for the meeting.
 - 2.4.7.2 contain or be accompanied by the agenda for the meeting and
 - 2.4.7.3 be accompanied by any documents or reports that are to be considered at the meeting (so far as reasonably available); and
 - 2.4.7.4 in the case of an ordinary meeting, be given at least three clear business days before the meeting and in the case of a special meeting, be given at least twenty-four hours before the meeting (or such other period as all the Board Members in office may, as a matter of general policy, determine otherwise).
- 2.4.8 The General Manager must maintain a record of all notices of meetings given to Board Members.
- 2.4.9 The General Manager must give notice to the public of the times and places of meetings of the Board by causing a copy of the notice and agenda for the meeting to be placed on public display at the principal office of the Authority:
 - 2.4.9.1 in the case of an ordinary meeting, at least three clear days before the date of the meeting; or
 - 2.4.9.2 in the case of a special meeting, as soon as practicable after the time that notice of the meeting is given to Board Members.
- 2.4.10 Subject to clause 2.4.12 the General Manager must also ensure that a reasonable number of copies of any document or report supplied to Board Members for consideration at a meeting of the Board are:
 - 2.4.10.1 available for inspection by members of the public at the principal office of the Authority as soon as practicable after the time when the document or report is supplied to Board Members; and
 - 2.4.10.2 in the case of a document or report supplied to Board Members at the Board meeting, at the meeting as soon as practicable after the time when the document or report is supplied to Board Members.

- 2.4.11 The General Manager may indicate on a document or report provided to Board Members under clause 2.4.7 any information or matter contained in or arising from a document or report that may, if the Board determines, be considered in confidence in accordance with Chapter 6, Part 3 of the Act provided that the General Manager at the same time specifies the basis on which an order could be made pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 6 Part 3 of the Act.
- 2.4.12 Clause 2.4.10 does not apply to a document or report:
 - 2.4.12.1 that is subject to the operation of clause 2.4.11; or
 - 2.4.12.2 that relates to a matter dealt with by the Board on a confidential basis in accordance with clause 2.4.3 and Chapter 6 Part 3 of the Act.
- 2.4.13 The Board may invite any person to attend at a meeting of the Board to act in an advisory capacity.
- 2.4.14 Minutes of meetings of the Board must be provided to Board Members and the Chief Executive Officer of the Council within five days of the meeting to which they relate.

2.5 Chair and Deputy Chair of the Board

- 2.5.1 The Board shall appoint a Board Member to be the Chairperson of the Board for such term and on such conditions as determined by the Board.
- 2.5.2 The Chairperson will cease to hold office as Chairperson in the event:
 - 2.5.2.1 the Chairperson resigns as Chairperson; or
 - 2.5.2.2 the Chairperson ceases to be a Board Member; or
 - 2.5.2.3 the Board terminates the Chairperson's appointment as Chairperson.
- 2.5.3 In the event that the office of Chairperson becomes vacant, then the Board must appoint a new Chairperson who shall hold office for the balance of the original term or until such later date as the Board may determine.
- 2.5.4 The Board shall appoint a Board Member, other than the Chairperson to be the Deputy Chairperson for such term and on such conditions as determined by the Board.
- 2.5.5 The Deputy Chairperson will cease to hold office as Deputy Chairperson in the event:
 - 2.5.5.1 the Deputy Chairperson resigns as Deputy Chairperson; or
 - 2.5.5.2 the Deputy Chairperson ceases to be a Board Member; or
 - 2.5.5.3 the Board terminates the Deputy Chairperson's appointment as Deputy Chairperson.

- 2.5.6 In the event that the Chairperson resigns, is removed from office by the Board, refuses or is unable to act as Chairperson, or is no longer a Board Member, then the Deputy Chairperson shall act in that office until such time as a Chairperson has been appointed by the Board. In the event that the Deputy Chairperson resigns, is removed from office by the Board, refuses or is unable to act as Chairperson, or is no longer a Board Member, the Board shall appoint a Board Member to act as Chairperson until such time as a Chairperson has been appointed by the Board whereupon the person so appointed shall hold office as the Chairperson for the balance of the original term or until such later date as the Board may determine.
- 2.5.7 The Chairperson and the Deputy Chairperson are eligible for re-appointment at the expiration of their term of office.
- 2.5.8 The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Board and, in the event of the Chairperson being absent from a meeting, the Deputy Chairperson shall preside for that meeting or until the Chairperson is present and in the event the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are both absent from a meeting, the Board Members present shall appoint a member from amongst them, who shall preside for that meeting or until the Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson is present.

2.6 Quorum

2.6.1 A quorum of the Board is one half of the Board Members in office, ignoring any fraction, plus one. A quorum must be present at all times during a Board meeting.

Governance

2.7 Board Policies

- 2.7.1 The Authority must adopt a mandatory code of conduct to be observed by Board Members in the performance of their functions and duties.
- 2.7.2 The Authority must, in consultation with the Council, prepare and adopt, and thereafter keep under review as required by legislation, policies on:
 - 2.7.2.1 governance.
 - 2.7.2.2 contracts and tenders (to conform to Section 49 of the Act).
 - 2.7.2.3 human resource management.
 - 2.7.2.4 work health and safety.
 - 2.7.2.5 protection of the environment.
 - 2.7.2.6 any other matters relevant to the operation of the Victor Harbor Horse Tram and the Authority; and
 - 2.7.2.7 the Board must ensure that code of conduct and Authority policies are complied with in the operation of the Authority.

2.8 **Board Duties to the Authority**

- 2.8.1 The Board must ensure:
 - 2.8.1.1 that the Authority acts in accordance with legislation, regulations, mandatory codes of practice and this Charter.
 - 2.8.1.2 that the Board acts ethically and with integrity.
 - 2.8.1.3 that the activities of the Authority are conducted efficiently and effectively and that the assets of the Authority are properly managed and maintained.
 - 2.8.1.4 that the Authority adheres to its Business Plan and takes all reasonable steps to achieve the financial outcomes projected in its Budget.

2.9 Appointment of Board Members

- 2.9.1 The Board shall consist of five members appointed by the Council.
- 2.9.2 The Council will appoint:
 - 2.9.2.1 four Board Members who are neither employees nor elected members of the Council.
 - 2.9.2.2 one elected member of the Council to be a Board Member.
- 2.9.3 The appointment of all Board Members will be for a term not exceeding three years and on such conditions as determined by the Council provided that the Council shall ensure that no more than two (2) Board Members' terms of office expire in the same 12-month period.
- 2.9.4 The Council will, as far as possible, ensure that each Board Member appointed pursuant to clause 2.11.2.1 possesses skills and/or experience in one of the following areas provided that no two Board Members are appointed on the basis of possessing the same skills and/or experience and that collectively the Board Members possess all the following skills and experience:
 - 2.9.4.1 marketing and tourism.
 - 2.9.4.2 business or financial management.
 - 2.9.4.3 horse management, husbandry and/or veterinary science experience.
 - 2.9.4.4 Director or manager of a commercial business.
- 2.9.5 A Board Member is eligible for reappointment at the expiration of a term of office except that no person shall hold office as a Board Member for more than three consecutive terms.
- 2.9.6 Prior to the conclusion of the term of office of any Board Member, a further appointment will be made by the Council.

- 2.9.7 The Council must give to the Authority a written notice of appointment of a Board Member.
- 2.9.8 Each Board Member must give to the Authority a signed written consent to act as a Board Member.

2.10 Selection Panel

- 2.10.1 A Chief Executive Officer of the Council and 2 persons appointed by the Board who is neither an elected member nor employee of the Council will comprise the Selection Panel and make recommendations to the Council on the appointment of Board Members pursuant to clause 2.9.2.1.
- 2.10.2 The Selection Panel will determine the appropriate recruitment process for Board Members having regard to existing policies and processes of the Council.

2.11 Vacancy in Office of Board Members

- 2.11.1 The office of a Board Member becomes vacant if any of the circumstances set out in clause 4(3) of Schedule 2 of the Act arise; and
- 2.11.2 Unless the Council expressly provides otherwise, in the case of a Board Member who was when appointed an elected member of the Council:
 - 2.11.2.1 upon that Board Member no longer being an elected member of the Council; and
 - 2.11.2.2 at the conclusion of the local government elections following their appointment.

2.12 Remuneration and Expenses of Board Members

- 2.12.1 The Authority is entitled to pay appropriate remuneration fees to Board Members (excluding Board Members who are elected members of the Council) as approved by the Council having regard to the Guidelines for Agencies and Board Directors published from time to time by the Department of Premier and Cabinet for Government Boards and Committees.
- 2.12.2 A Board Member is entitled to claim for any travelling and other expenses that are properly incurred in connection with the Authority's business and with the prior approval of the Board as recorded in minutes of a Board meeting.

2.13 Casual Vacancies

If any casual vacancy occurs in the membership of the Board, it will be filled in the same manner as the original appointment. The person appointed to the Board to fill a casual vacancy will be appointed for the balance of the term of the original appointment or such longer term as determined by the Council.

2.14 Register of Interests

A Board Member is not required to submit returns to the Authority under Chapter 5, Part 4, Division 2 of the Act.

3. OTHER OFFICERS

3.1 General Manager

- 3.1.1 The Authority may appoint a General Manager of the Authority on terms and conditions to be determined by Council.
- 3.1.2 The General Manager's functions include:
 - 3.1.2.1 to ensure that the policies and lawful decisions of the Authority are implemented in a timely manner.
 - 3.1.2.2 to ensure the efficient and effective management of the operations and affairs of the Authority.
 - 3.1.2.3 to provide advice and reports to the Board on the exercise and performance of the Authority's powers and functions.
 - 3.1.2.4 to assist the Authority and the Board in maintaining compliance with all relevant legislation, this Charter, the Budget and the Business Plan.
 - 3.1.2.5 ensuring that records required under the Act or in other legislation are properly managed and maintained.
 - 3.1.2.6 achieving financial outcomes in accordance with adopted plans and budgets; and
 - 3.1.2.7 establishing policies and procedure relating to work, health and safety.
- 3.1.3 The General Manager has such powers, functions and duties prescribed by this clause and as determined necessary by the Board from time to time to ensure the efficient and effective management of the operations and affairs of the Authority.
- 3.1.4 The General Manager is subject to the same legislative responsibilities and duties as a Chief Executive Officer of a council including those matters set out in Parts 1 and 3 of Chapter 7 of the Act.
- 3.1.5 The General Manager of the Authority is responsible for appointing, managing, suspending and dismissing any other subordinate employees of the Authority (on behalf of the Authority) in accordance with legislative requirements, Authority policy and applying the principles of procedural fairness.

3.2 **Staff**

3.2.1 The appointment of staff will be and remain consistent with the Council's employment policies under the Act and other relevant legislation.

3.3 Auditor

- 3.3.1 The Authority must appoint an auditor. Subject to the Act, and this Charter, an auditor holds office on the terms and conditions (including as to remuneration) that the Authority determines.
- 3.3.2 The Authority must provide its audited financial statements to the Chief Executive Officer of the Council by 30 September in each year.

4. AUDIT COMMITTEE

4.1 Audit Committee

- 4.1.1 The Authority is required to establish an Audit Committee and clause 13(4) of Schedule 2 of the Act governs the constitution and functions of the Audit Committee. The Authority may establish its own Audit Committee or use the Council's Audit Committee with the agreement of the Council.
- 4.1.2 If the Authority establishes its own Audit Committee:
 - 4.1.2.1 it must comply with the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 regarding the membership of the Audit Committee.
 - 4.1.2.2 an officer(s) of the Council nominated by the Chief Executive Officer of the Council may attend Audit Committee meetings as an observer.
 - 4.1.2.3 at least two members of the Audit Committee must be neither elected members nor employees of the Council.
 - 4.1.2.4 the Presiding Member of the Audit Committee must not be an elected member or employee of the Council.
 - 4.1.2.5 members of the Audit Committee are not entitled to payment of Remuneration Fees unless approved by the Council.
 - 4.1.2.6 minutes of an Audit Committee Meeting must be provided to the Chief Executive Officer of the Council within five days of the Audit Committee meeting to which the minutes relate.

5. **BUDGETS**

- 5.1 The Authority must before 31 March of each year prepare and submit a draft Business Plan and Budget to the Council for the ensuing financial year (or, if appropriate, part financial year) in accordance with the Act for approval by the Council.
- 5.2 The Authority must adopt after 31 Ma and within six (6) weeks of approval of the draft Budget by the Council in each year, a Budget in accordance with the Act for the ensuing financial year consistent with the approval given by the Council pursuant to clause 5.1.

- 5.3 The Authority may in a financial year, after consultation with the Council, incur spending before adoption of its Budget for the year, but the spending must be provided for in the appropriate Budget for the year.
- 5.4 The Authority must each financial year provide a copy of its adopted Budget to the Council within five (5) business days after the adoption of the Budget by the Authority.
- 5.5 Quarterly reports summarising the financial position and performance of the Authority against the Budget must be prepared and presented to the Board within thirty (30) days of the conclusion of each quarter and copies provided to the Council.
- 5.6 The Authority must reconsider its Budget in accordance with the Act in a manner consistent with the Act and may with the approval of the Council amend its Budget for a financial year at any time before the year ends.
- 5.7 The contents of the Budget must be in accordance with the Act.

6. INSURANCE AND SUPERANNUATION REQUIREMENTS

- 6.1 The Authority must maintain membership with the Local Government
 Association Mutual Liability Scheme and Local Government Association
 Workers Compensation Scheme and comply with the rules of those Schemes.
- 6.2 If the Authority employs any person, it must register the employee with a Superannuation scheme of their choice and comply with the rules of that Scheme.
- 6.3 The Authority must advise Local Government Risk Services of its insurance requirements relating to risks including buildings, structures, vehicles and equipment under the ownership, management, care and control of the Authority.

7. FINANCIAL PRACTICES

7.1 Accounting Records

The Authority must comply with Sections 124 and 125 of the Act as if the Authority were a council and ensure that its financial practices are undertaken in accordance with all applicable accounting standards, legislation and regulations.

7.2 Other Financial Practices

Except as may be stated elsewhere in this Charter, there are no special accounting, internal auditing or financial systems or practices to be established or observed by the Authority.

8. **REPORTING**

8.1 **Management Reports**

The Authority must provide management reports to the Board Members at such times, in such format and with such content as the Board may determine.

8.2 **Annual Reports**

Clause 12 of Schedule 2 of the Act requires the Authority to furnish an annual report to the Council. The report is required by 30 September each year.

9. **COMMITTEES**

- 9.1 The Authority may establish committees for such purposes and with terms of reference as the Authority determines from time to time.
- 9.2 The members of committees need not be members of the Board.

10. OTHER MATTERS

10.1 **Saving Provision**

- 10.1.1 No act or proceeding of the Authority is invalid by reason of:
 - 10.1.1.1 a vacancy or vacancies in the membership of the Board; or
 - 10.1.1.2 a defect in the appointment of a Board Member.

10.2 Circumstances Not Provided For

If any circumstances arise about which this Charter is silent or are incapable of taking effect or being implemented according to its terms, the Board may consider the circumstances and determine the action to be taken and consult with Council.